CLIMATE SMART AGRICULTURE, FOOD SECURITY AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

GLOBAL ISSUES & LOCAL PERSPECTIVES volume One

Edited by

Eteyen Nyong

Ijeoma Vincent-Akpu

Bassey Ekpo

Muhammad Hussaini

Udensi Ekea Udensi

Mansur Bindawa

Society for Agriculture, Environmental Resources & Management (SAEREM)
First published 2025
SAEREM World
Nigeria
C 2025 Eteyen Nyong
Typeset in Times New Roman All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilized in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or others means, now, known or hereafter invented including photocopying and recording or in any information storage or retrieved system, without permission in writing from the copyrights owners.

CLIMATE SMART AGRICULT GLOBAL ISSUES & LOCAL PERSP		Y AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMI	ENT
SAEREM BOOK CHAPTERS	First Published 2025	ISBN 978-978-60709-8-8	
Printed at: SAEREM Work	ld		
SAEREM BOOK CHAPTERS	First Published 2025	ISBN 978-978-60709-8-8 @ SAER	EM World

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preface

Editorial Note

Table of Contents

Acknowledgement

Dedication

Part one: The Concept of Climate Smart Agriculture (CSA)

Chapter One

Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) in Nigeria: An Examination of Successful Interventions, Challenges and Future Opportunities

Chapter Two

Climate Smart Cropping Systems: Pathways to Agricultural Resilience and Environmental Sustainability

^{**} Okwor, Uchechi Mercy¹, Ajuonuma, Edima Fidelis², and Oparaojiaku, Joy Obiageri³

^{1,2,3} Department of Agricultural Extension, University of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences, Umuagwo

Macsamuel Sesugh Ugbaa¹² and Christopher Oche Eche¹²

*Department of Environmental Sustainability, Joseph Sarwuan Tarka University Makurdi (formerly known as Federal University of Agriculture Makurdi **Institute of Procurement, Environmental and Social Standards, Joseph Sarwuan Tarka University Makurdi (formerly known as Federal University of Agriculture Makurdi

Chapter Three

Influence of Genotypes, Trash Mulching, and Weed Control Methods on Sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) Productivity under a Changing Climate in the Southern Guinea Savanna of Nigeria

¹Bassey, M.S, ²Shittu, E.A* and ³Elemi, E.D

¹National Cereals Research Institute, P.M.B 8, Bida, Nigeria, ORCID: 0000-0002-9345-1112

²Department of Agronomy, Bayero University Kano, P.M.B 3011, Kano State, Nigeria ORCID: 0000-0003-0639-009X

³Department of Crop Science, University of Calabar, Cross River State, Nigeria, ORCID: 0000-0002-8513-7457; seabarahm.agr@buk.edu.ng +2348024695219

Chapter Four

Climate Change and Adaptation Management Practices In Crop And Animal Production.

Idris, Rakiya Kabir and Suleiman, Akilu

Chapter Five

Climate-Smart Agricultural Extension: Strategies for Enhancing Farmers' Adaptation to Climate Change

¹Mbube, Baridanu Hope, ²Ameh, Daniel Anone & ³Kolo, Philip Ndeji
Federal College of Land Resources Technology, Kuru, P.M.B. 3025 Jos Plateau State
Department of Agricultural Extension and Management Technology
Email: hopembube@gmail.com & baridanu.mbube@fecorlart.edu.ng

Chapter Six

Influence of Climate Change and Soil Characteristics on the Performance of Upland Rice Varieties in the Kagoro Area, Kaduna State, Nigeria

Elisha Ikpe¹, Iliya Jonathan Makarau², Patrick Adakole John³

¹Department of Geography, Federal College of Education, Odugbo, Benue State ²Department of Geography and Planning, University of Jos, Plateau State ³Department of Agriculture, Federal College of Education, Odugbo, Benue State <u>elishaikpe@fceodugbo.edu.ng;</u> Mobile: +2348065665954

Part Two: THE CONCEPT OF FOOD SECURITY

Chapter Seven

Climate-Smart Agriculture and Aquatic Toxicology: Balancing Food Security and Ecosystem Health

Victoria Folakemi Akinjogunla^{1*} and Aishat Ayobami Mustapha²

Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture, Bayero University Kano

Department of Soil Science, Bayero University Kano.*vfakinjogunla.fag@buk.edu.ng

Chapter Eight

Empirical Evidence of Covariate Shocks and Lower Scale Agricultural Risk Interlock in Farming Systems Resilience

Sesugh Uker¹, Muhammad B. Bello² and Aminu Suleiman²

Institute of Food Security, Federal University of Agriculture Makurdi-Nigeria¹

Department of Agricultural Economics, Bayero University Kano-Nigeria²

Chapter Nine

Influence of Different Irrigation Regimes and Intervals on Mineral Content and Yield of Cucumber (Cucumis sativus L)

*Department of Agricultural & Bo-environmental Engineering Technology, Federal College of Land Resources Technology, Owerri, Imo State Department of Soil Science & Technology, Federal College of Land Resources Technology, Owerri, Imo State, Nigeria *a Corresponding author email:igbojionudonatus@gmail.com

Chapter Ten

Integrating Agroforestry and Forest Gardens into Urban Greening for Food Security in Nigeria

Dr. Ogunsusi, Kayode

Department Of Forestry, Wildlife And Environmental Management, Olusegun Agagu University Of Science And Technology, Okitipupa, Ondo State, Nigeria

Chapter Eleven

Climate Smart Agriculture, Food Security and Sustainable Development: Homegarden Agroforestry Perspective

*Eric, E.E., ** Ejizu, A.N. and *Akpan, U.F.

Chapter Twelve

Impact of Information Communication Technology(ICT) on Revenue Generation in Jalingo Local Government Area, Taraba State-Nigeria.

John Baling Fom, PhD¹ and Atiman Kasima Wilson, PhD² Department of Political Sciences, University of Jos. Department of General Studies, Federal Polytechnic, Bali

Chapter Thirteen

^{*,}algbojionu, D.O., blgbojionu, J.N.

^{*}Forestry Research Institutes of Nigeria, Ibadan, Swamp Forest Research Station Onne, Rivers State, Nigeria.

^{**}Forestry Research Institutes of Nigeria, Ibadan, Federal College of Forestry, Ishiaghi, Ebonyi State, Nigeria.

^{*}Corresponding author: estydavies@gmail.com

Role of Climate-Smart Agriculture in Addressing Challenges of Food Security and Climate Change in Africa

'KAPSIYA JOEL*, 'PETER ABRAHAM, 'ADAMU WAZIRI, 'DUNUWEL MUSA DANZARIA'

Department of Horticultural Technology, Federal College of Horticulture Dadin-kowa

Gombe State Nigeria, *Corresponding author: jkapsiya.hort@fchdk.edu.ng

Part Three: THE CONCEPT OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Chapter Fourteen

The Political Economy of Renewable Energy Transitions: Implications for Fisheries

Victoria Folakemi AKINJOGUNLA^{1*} and Charity Ebelechukwu EJIKEME²
¹Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture, Bayero University Kano, Kano State, Nigeria.
²Department of Biology, Federal College of Education (Technical), Akoka, Lagos, Nigeria.
*vfakinjogunla.faq@buk.edu.ng

Chapter Fifteen

Sustainable Agriculture Practices in the Face of Climate Change

Fakuta, B. A, Ediene, V. F and Etta, O. I.

Faculty of Agriculture, University of Calabar, Calabar, Nigeria

Corresponding author: email balthiya1@gmail.com

Chapter Sixteen

Assessing the Challenges of Implementing Climate Change Adaptation Practices in Agricultural Communities of Benue State, Nigeria

Elisha Ikpe¹, Ugbede D. Omede² and Patrick A. John²

Department of Geography, Federal College of Education, Odugbo, Benue State

²Department of Agricultural Science, Federal College of Education, Odugbo, Benue State

Email: elishaikpe@fceodugbo.edu.ng

Chapter Seventeen Climate Smart Agriculture

Muhammad Usman Mairiga

College of Agriculture and Animal Science

Ahmadu Bello University, Mando Kaduna

Chapter Eighteen

Climate Change and Food Production Threats in Nigeria: A Call for Action

Paul Temegbe Owombo

Department of Agricultural Economics and Extension, Olusegun Agagu University of Science and Technology, Okitipupa, Ondo State, Nigeria; ownwoondown.com

Chapter Nineteen

Evaluating the Impact of Climate Change on Weed Dynamics, Sugar Quality, and Performance of Sugar cane hybrid clones in a Nigerian Savanna

¹Shittu, E.A*., ²Bassey, M.S., and ¹Buhari, F.Z.

¹Department of Agronomy, Bayero University Kano, P.M.B 3011, Kano State, Nigeria ORCID: 0000-0003-0639-009X

²National Cereals Research Institute, P.M.B 8, Bida, Nigeria ORCID: 0000-0002-9345-1112 *Corresponding Author email: seabarahm.agr@buk.edu.ng

Chapter Twenty

Integrating Crop Farmers Adaptation Stategies Against Climate Change In Ondo State, Nigeria

Emmanuel Olasope Bamigboye and Lateef Ayodeji Ola

Chapter Twenty One

Climate Change Mitigation Strategies Adopted by Palm Wine Tappers in Akwa Ibom State Nigeria

Eteyen Nyong and G. E. Okon

Department of Agricultural Economics, Akwa Ibom State University, Nigeria

eenyong16@gmail.com

Preface

This book adopts an exegetical approach as well as a pedagogic model, making it attractive agriculture and environmental economics teachers, professional practitioners and scholars. It is eschews pedantry and lays bars the issues in such clarity that conduces to learning. The book elaborates on contemporaneous **Climate Smart Agriculture**, **Food Security and Sustainable Development** issues of global significance and at the same time, is mindful of local or national perspectives making it appealing both to international and national interests. The book explores the ways in which climate smart agriculture (CSA) food security, Sustainable Development issues are and should be presented to increase the public's stock of knowledge, increase awareness about burning issues and empower the scholars and public to engage in the participatory dialogue climate smart agriculture, food security, and sustainable development necessary in policy making process that will stimulate increase in food production and environmental sustainability.

Climate Smart Agriculture, Food Security and Sustainable Development: Global Issues & Local Perspectives is organized in three parts. Part One deals with The Concept of Climate Smart Agriculture, Part Two is concerned with The Concept of Food Security And and Part Three deals with the Concept of Sustainable Development Eteyen Nyong; October 2025

Chapter Fifteen

Sustainable Agriculture Practices in the Face of Climate Change

Fakuta, B. A, Ediene, V. F and Etta, O. I.

Faculty of Agriculture, University of Calabar, Calabar, Nigeria

Corresponding author: email balthiya1@gmail.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents			i
1. Introduction	Error! Bookmark not	defined.	
 1.2 The Importance of Sustainable Agriculture in En 1.3 The Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture and 2. Understanding Sustainable Agriculture 2.1 Definition of Sustainable Agriculture 	•	2 3 4 4	
2.2 Principles of Sustainable Agriculture		4	
2.3 Benefits of Sustainable Agriculture 3. Key Sustainable Agriculture Practices 3.1 Crop Diversification 3.1.1 Benefits of Crop Diversification 3.1.2 Case Studies of Successful Crop Diversification	Error! Bookmark not Error! Bookmark not Error! Bookmark not	defined.	
3.2 Crop Rotation 3.2.1 Benefits of Crop Rotation	Error! Bookmark not	defined. 7	
3.2.2 Case Studies of Successful Crop Rotation 3.3 Integrated Pest Management (IPM) 3.3.1 Overview of IPM	Error! Bookmark not	defined. 9	9
3.3.2 Benefits of IPM for Reducing Chemical Use		9	
3.3.3 Success Stories of IPM Implementation		1	0
4. Water Management Practices in Sustainable Agriculture		11	
4.1 Strategies for Efficient Water Usage		11	
4.1.1 Drip Irrigation		11	

	4.1.2 Rainwater Harvesting	11	
	4.1.3 Soil Moisture Management	12	
	4.2 The Role of Watershed Management in Sustainable Agriculture	12	
5	. Technological Innovations in Sustainable Agriculture	13	
	5.1 Precision Agriculture	13	1
	5.2 Use of Drones and Remote Sensing	13	
	5.3 Mobile Applications and Digital Tools	13	
	5.4 Soil Sensors	13	
	5.5 Vertical Farming and Hydroponics	14	
	5.6 Innovations Supporting Climate Resilience and Sustainable Productivity	14	
	5.6.1 Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA)	14	
	5.6.2 Biotechnology	14	
	5.6.3 Agroforestry Systems	15	
	5.6.4 Water Management Technologies	15	
6.	. Policy Frameworks and Support Systems	15	
	6.1 Importance of Government Policies	1	5
	6.2 Overview of International Agreements Supporting Sustainable Agriculture	16	
	6.3 Local Policies Supporting Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) in Nigeria	16	
7.	. Challenges and Opportunities in Sustainable Agriculture	17	
	7.1 Key Challenges Facing Sustainable Agricultural Practices	17	
	7.2 Opportunities for Advancing Sustainable Practices	18	
	7.3 Strategies for Overcoming Barriers	1	9
8	. Conclusion	20	
	8.1 Summary of Key Points	21	
	8.2 Call to Action	22	

References 24

1. Introduction

1.1 Overview of Sustainable Agriculture

Sustainable agriculture is an integrated system of plant and animal production practices that enhances environmental quality, supports economic viability, and promotes social equity. As the impacts of climate change intensify, the agricultural sector faces unprecedented challenges, including altered weather patterns, increased pests and diseases, and water scarcity. These changes threaten food security and the livelihoods of millions of farmers worldwide. Therefore, adopting sustainable agriculture practices is not only crucial for mitigating the effects of climate change but also for ensuring food security, preserving natural resources, promoting environmental health, resilience and productivity of agricultural systems.

Sustainable agriculture practices encompass a wide range of strategies aimed at optimizing resource use, enhancing biodiversity, and reducing agricultural emissions. Techniques such as crop diversification, agroforestry, cover cropping, and integrated pest management (IPM) play a pivotal role in building resilience to climate variability. By improving soil health, conserving water, and promoting ecosystem services, these practices help farmers adapt to changing conditions while maintaining or even increasing productivity.

This chapter delves into key sustainable agricultural practices, including crop diversification, integrated pest management (IPM), and efficient water management. It also highlights empirical studies and global perspectives on these practices, illustrating their effectiveness in enhancing resilience and promoting sustainable food systems. Recent studies indicate that sustainable agricultural practices not only improve yields but also contribute to soil health and biodiversity. As articulated by the Food and Agriculture Organization, sustainable agriculture is essential for achieving food security and environmental sustainability, particularly in the face of climate change. The integration of innovative practices and technologies is critical for transforming agricultural systems and ensuring resilience in the wake of climate variability. Some other research indicates that sustainable agriculture can significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions from the agricultural sector. For instance, practices that enhance soil carbon sequestration, such as no-till farming and organic amendments, contribute to climate change mitigation. Furthermore, the adoption of climate-smart agriculture (CSA) principles, which focus on increasing productivity while reducing vulnerability to climate change, is essential for achieving food security in a warming world.

Moreover, sustainable agriculture practices are not just about environmental benefits; they also offer economic advantages. By reducing input costs through efficient resource use and enhancing resilience to climate impacts, farmers can improve their profitability and ensure long-term viability. Policymakers, researchers, and agricultural practitioners must work collaboratively to promote and implement these practices, ensuring that they are accessible and beneficial to all farmers, particularly those in vulnerable communities. Sustainable agriculture practices are vital for addressing the challenges posed by climate change. It integrates ecological principles into agricultural systems, and enhance food security, protect natural resources, as well as promote sustainable future for generations to come. It emphasizes the importance of adopting these key sustainable agricultural practices which are also innovative strategies, to enhance resilience and promote sustainable food production systems. By exploring these practices, the chapter seeks to generate insights into how the global community can effectively respond to climate change while simultaneously safeguarding food security for a rapidly growing world population.

1.2 The Importance of Sustainable Agriculture in Ensuring Food Security

Sustainable agriculture plays a critical role in ensuring food security, which is the condition where all people have physical, social, and economic access to sufficient, safe, and nutritious food to meet their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life. As the global population continues to grow, projected to reach 9.7 billion by 2050, the demand for food is expected to increase significantly, necessitating a transformation in agricultural practices to meet this challenge sustainably. Some of the importance of sustainable agriculture in ensuring food security are listed below:

- i. Enhancing Agricultural Productivity: Sustainable agriculture emphasizes practices that improve soil health, increase biodiversity, and optimize resource use. Techniques such as crop rotation, agro ecology, and organic farming can enhance productivity while maintaining the ecological balance. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), sustainable agricultural practices can increase yields by 20% to 40% in certain cases, significantly contributing to food availability.
- ii. Resilience to Climate Change: Climate change poses a significant threat to food security, with changing weather patterns leading to crop failures and reduced agricultural productivity. Sustainable agriculture practices, such as conservation tillage, agroforestry, and intercropping, enhance the resilience of farming systems to climate variability. By diversifying crops and improving soil health, farmers can better withstand extreme weather events, thereby securing food supplies.
- iii. Reducing Environmental Impact: Conventional agricultural practices often lead to soil degradation, water scarcity, and loss of biodiversity, which can undermine long-term food security. Sustainable agriculture minimizes these negative impacts by promoting practices that conserve natural resources and protect ecosystems. For example, practices like integrated pest management and

organic farming reduce reliance on chemical inputs, benefiting both the environment and human health.

- iv. Economic Viability and Livelihoods: Sustainable agriculture not only focuses on environmental sustainability but also on economic viability. By adopting sustainable practices, farmers can reduce input costs, improve profitability, and enhance their livelihoods. This is particularly important for smallholder farmers, who constitute a significant portion of the world's food producers. Supporting sustainable agricultural initiatives can empower these farmers, improve their economic resilience, and increase their contributions to food security.
- v. Social Equity and Community Development: Sustainable agriculture promotes social equity by encouraging local food production and consumption, which can strengthen community ties and improve access to nutritious food. Additionally, by fostering equitable access to resources and decision-making processes, sustainable agriculture can enhance food security for marginalized populations, ensuring that all members of society benefit from food systems.

sustainable agriculture is essential for ensuring food security in the face of growing global challenges. By enhancing productivity, building resilience to climate change, reducing environmental impacts, promoting economic viability, and fostering social equity, sustainable agricultural practices create a more secure and sustainable food future for all.

1.3 The Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture and Food Systems

Climate change significantly affects agriculture and food systems worldwide, posing substantial risks to food security, livelihoods, and ecosystem health. As global temperatures rise and weather patterns become increasingly erratic, the following impacts are observed in agricultural practices and food production:

- i. Altered Crop Yields: Changes in temperature, precipitation patterns, and increased frequency of extreme weather events directly affect crop yields. Studies indicate that for every 1°C increase in temperature, staple crops such as wheat, rice, and maize may experience yield reductions of 10-25%. This decline in productivity threatens food availability and can exacerbate food insecurity, especially in regions heavily reliant on these crops.
- ii. Increased Pest and Disease Pressure: Climate change alters the distribution and lifecycle of agricultural pests and diseases, leading to increased outbreaks and severity of infestations. Warmer temperatures and changing rainfall patterns can create favourable conditions for pests, resulting in greater crop losses and increased reliance on chemical pesticides. This not only threatens food production but also raises concerns about environmental and human health.
- iii. Water Scarcity: Climate change contributes to altered precipitation patterns, leading to both droughts and floods. Regions that rely on predictable rainfall are particularly vulnerable, as reduced water availability can hinder irrigation and crop growth. The FAO estimates that by 2050, up to 1.8 billion people could be living in areas with absolute water scarcity, significantly impacting agricultural productivity and food security.

- iv. Soil Degradation: Increased temperatures and extreme weather events contribute to soil erosion, degradation, and nutrient depletion. Higher rainfall intensity can lead to runoff and soil loss, diminishing soil fertility and reducing agricultural productivity. Healthy soils are essential for sustainable agriculture, and their degradation threatens the long-term viability of food systems.
- V. Impact on Livestock Production: Climate change affects livestock health, productivity, and reproduction. Heat stress due to rising temperatures can lead to decreased milk production, weight loss, and higher mortality rates in livestock. Additionally, changing forage availability and quality can affect livestock nutrition, further impacting food production and farmers' livelihoods.
- Vi. Food Supply Chain Disruptions: Extreme weather events, such as hurricanes, floods, and droughts, can disrupt food supply chains, leading to food shortages and increased prices. Climate-related disasters can damage infrastructure, reduce access to markets, and hinder food distribution, exacerbating food insecurity, particularly in vulnerable populations.
- Vii. Economic Impacts: The economic consequences of climate change on agriculture are far-reaching. Reduced crop yields and increased production costs can lead to higher food prices, affecting consumers and particularly impacting low-income households. The World Bank estimates that climate change could push an additional 100 million people into extreme poverty by 2030 due to its impact on agriculture and food systems.

climate change poses a multitude of challenges to agriculture and food systems, threatening food security, livelihoods, and sustainability. It is crucial for policymakers, researchers, and agricultural practitioners to work collaboratively to develop adaptive strategies and sustainable practices to mitigate these impacts and ensure resilient food systems for the future.

2. Understanding Sustainable Agriculture

2.1 Definition of Sustainable Agriculture

Sustainable agriculture is a holistic approach to farming that aims to produce food, fibre, and other products while maintaining the health of the ecosystem, ensuring economic viability, and promoting social equity. It integrates diverse farming practices that enhance productivity while conserving natural resources and protecting the environment. The goal of sustainable agriculture is to create a farming system that is resilient, regenerative, and capable of meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This approach aligns with global efforts to achieve the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), particularly Goal 2, which aims to end hunger and promote sustainable agriculture.

2.2 Principles of Sustainable Agriculture

Sustainable agriculture encompasses a range of practices and principles that work together to create a balanced agricultural system. The key principles of sustainable agriculture include:

- Soil Health: Maintaining and enhancing soil quality is fundamental to sustainable agriculture.
 Practices such as crop rotation, cover cropping, and reduced tillage improve soil structure,
 fertility, and biodiversity. Healthy soils support nutrient cycling and enhance water retention,
 which are essential for sustainable crop production.
- ii. Biodiversity: Promoting biodiversity within agricultural systems helps to create resilient ecosystems. Diversifying crop and livestock species can reduce vulnerability to pests and diseases, improve ecosystem services, and enhance food security.
- iii. Water Conservation: Sustainable agriculture emphasizes efficient water use and management. Techniques such as drip irrigation, rainwater harvesting, and conservation tillage help to conserve water resources and reduce runoff and erosion.
- iv. Integrated Pest Management (IPM): IPM combines biological, cultural, and mechanical practices with the judicious use of chemical controls to manage pests and diseases sustainably. This approach minimizes chemical inputs and their environmental impacts while maintaining crop health and productivity.
- V. Economic Viability: Sustainable agriculture aims to provide farmers with a stable income and economic opportunities. By reducing input costs through efficient resource use and enhancing product quality, sustainable practices can improve profitability and economic resilience for farmers.
- vi. Social Equity: Promoting social equity is essential in sustainable agriculture. This involves ensuring fair labour practices, equitable access to resources, and participation in decision-making processes for all stakeholders involved in the agricultural system.

2.3 Benefits of Sustainable Agriculture

The adoption of sustainable agricultural practices yields numerous benefits as:

- i. Food Security: A sustainable agricultural system contributes to food security by ensuring a stable supply of nutritious food. By enhancing productivity through sustainable practices, farmers can meet the growing demand for food while preserving the environment.
- ii. Environmental Protection: Balancing environmental needs with economic activities helps to protect ecosystems and natural resources. Sustainable practices reduce pollution, conserve biodiversity, and mitigate climate change impacts, thereby ensuring the long-term health of the planet.
- iii. Economic Resilience: Incorporating economic viability into sustainability ensures that farmers can thrive despite market fluctuations and environmental challenges. A resilient agricultural system supports local economies and empowers communities, reducing poverty and enhancing livelihoods.
- iv. Social Justice: Addressing social needs within sustainable agriculture promotes equity and inclusivity. Ensuring that all stakeholders, including marginalized groups, have access to resources and opportunities fosters community development and social cohesion.

3. Key Sustainable Agriculture Practices

CLIMATE SMART AGRICULTURE, FOOD SECURITY AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

GLOBAL ISSUES & LOCAL PERSPECTIVES volume One

3.1 Crop Diversification

This involves growing a variety of crops in a given area or within a specific area or farming system. This practice can enhance the resilience of agricultural systems by reducing dependence on a single crop, improving soil health, and increasing biodiversity.

3.1.1 Benefits of Crop Diversification

The benefits of crop diversification include:

- Risk Mitigation: Diversifying crops reduces the risk of total crop failure due to pests, diseases, or adverse weather conditions. If one crop fails, others may still thrive, safeguarding farmers' livelihoods and food security.
- ii. Improved Soil Health: Growing a variety of crops can enhance soil fertility and structure. Different root systems and plant types contribute to nutrient cycling and organic matter accumulation, reducing the need for chemical fertilizers.
- iii. Pest and Disease Management: Crop diversification disrupts the life cycles of pests and diseases, reducing their prevalence and the need for chemical pesticides. This can lead to healthier crops and higher yields.
- iv. Enhanced Ecosystem Services: Diverse cropping systems can improve ecosystem services such as pollination, soil erosion control, and water retention, contributing to the overall health of the agricultural landscape.
- V. Economic Stability: Growing multiple crops can provide farmers with a more stable income, as they are less vulnerable to market fluctuations associated with single-crop production. This can enhance livelihoods and promote rural development.

3.1.2 Case Studies of Successful Crop Diversification

- i. Diversified Crop Systems in Brazil: The adoption of diversified crop systems, particularly in the Brazilian Cerrado, has been instrumental in enhancing agricultural sustainability. Farmers have implemented systems that include soybeans, corn, and various legumes. The integration of legumes, such as cowpeas and peanuts, alongside cash crops like soybeans has improved soil fertility through nitrogen fixation. This practice has also helped in managing pests and diseases. Research has shown that diversified cropping systems in Brazil can increase yields by 15-20% compared to monoculture systems. Additionally, these practices have led to improved soil health and reduced environmental impact by promoting biodiversity.
- ii. Crop Diversification in India: In India, efforts to diversify cropping systems have been implemented in various states, focusing on integrating pulses and oilseeds with traditional cereal crops. The Indian government has promoted crop diversification through programs that encourage farmers to plant legumes, such as chickpeas and lentils, alongside cereals like wheat and rice. This diversification aims to improve soil health and increase farmers' resilience to climate variability. A study conducted by the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR) found that diversified

- cropping systems have improved farmers' incomes by approximately 30% and enhanced food security by providing a more stable supply of nutrients.
- iii. Crop Diversification in the Netherlands: In the Netherlands, farmers have adopted crop diversification as part of sustainable agricultural practices, particularly in greenhouse farming and open-field systems. The integration of vegetables, fruits, and flowers within the same farming systems has been encouraged. Farmers use crop rotation and intercropping techniques to enhance biodiversity and soil health. Research indicated that diversified systems in the Netherlands have led to increased resilience against pests, improved soil quality, and higher overall yields. Farmers adopting these practices reported up to a 25% increase in profits due to higher market prices for diverse crops.
- iv. Agro ecological Practices in East Africa: In East Africa, particularly in countries like Kenya and Uganda, farmers are increasingly adopting agro ecological practices that promote crop diversification to enhance resilience against climate change. The introduction of intercropping systems, such as maize with beans and sweet potatoes, has been promoted as a means to improve soil fertility and reduce vulnerability to climate shocks. It is found that farmers who adopted diversified agro ecological practices reported a 30% increase in yields and improved resilience to drought and pests. This approach has not only improved food security but also enhanced the sustainability of farming systems in the region.
- v. Maize and Cowpea Intercropping in Northern Nigeria: In Northern Nigeria, farmers have successfully implemented intercropping systems that combine maize with cowpea. This practice not only improves yields but also enhances soil fertility through nitrogen fixation. Farmers have been trained to plant maize and cowpea in alternating rows, which maximizes land use and minimizes competition for resources. This intercropping method allows both crops to benefit from each other's growth patterns. It was found that farmers who adopted maize-cowpea intercropping achieved an average yield increase of 25% for maize and 30% for cowpea compared to monoculture systems. The practice also helped reduce pest infestations and improved soil nutrient content.
- vi. Cassava and Legume Rotation in Southern Nigeria: In the southern regions of Nigeria, particularly in Edo and Delta states, farmers have adopted a rotation system involving cassava and various leguminous crops, such as cowpea and groundnut. The practice involves planting legumes after harvesting cassava to improve soil fertility and reduce weed pressure. Farmers are encouraged to alternate cassava with legumes to enhance nutrient availability and soil health. Research indicated that rotating cassava with legumes led to a 30% increase in cassava yields due to improved soil nitrogen levels. Additionally, the practice has contributed to better pest management and increased resilience against adverse weather conditions.
- vii. Rice and Fish Integrated Farming in the Niger Delta: In the Niger Delta region, farmers have adopted an integrated farming system that combines rice cultivation with fish farming. This approach exemplifies effective crop diversification and resource optimization. Farmers grow rice in flooded fields while simultaneously raising fish, such as tilapia, in the same water. This system utilizes the nutrient-rich water from fish farming to enhance rice growth. It was reported that this integrated approach improved rice yields by 20-30% compared to traditional rice farming.

Additionally, the farmers benefited from increased income from fish sales, thereby enhancing their overall livelihoods.

viii. Vegetable Crop Diversification in Lagos State: In urban and peri-urban areas of Lagos State, farmers have diversified their crops by integrating various vegetables, such as tomatoes, peppers, and leafy greens, into their farming practices. Farmers practice intercropping and staggered planting to optimize space and extend the growing season. This diversification allows them to cater to local market demands and reduce the risk of crop failure. Research found that vegetable crop diversification increased farmers' incomes by 30-50% compared to traditional monocropping systems. The study also highlighted improved nutritional outcomes for local communities due to increased availability of diverse vegetables.

These case studies illustrate the effectiveness of crop diversification as a strategy for enhancing agricultural resilience and sustainability across different global contexts. By integrating various crops into farming systems, farmers can improve soil health, increase yields, and adapt to the challenges posed by climate change. As these examples demonstrate, governments, research institutions, and farmers can work collaboratively to promote crop diversification as a viable solution for sustainable agricultural development. The successful implementation of these practices serves as a valuable model for sustainable agriculture.

3.2 Crop Rotation

This is the practice of alternating the species of crops grown on a given piece of land over time or alternating different crops in a specific sequence over time.

3.2.1 Benefits of Crop Rotation

This method offers several benefits that enhance resilience in agricultural systems such as:

- i. Nutrient Management: Different crops have varying nutrient requirements and contributions. Rotating crops can help balance soil nutrients, reduce nutrient depletion, and enhance soil fertility.
- Soil Structure Improvement: Crop rotation can improve soil structure and prevent compaction.
 Deep-rooted crops can break up compacted soil layers, enhancing water infiltration and root growth.
- iii. Weed Control: Rotating crops disrupts weed life cycles, making it more difficult for weeds to establish and thrive. This reduces the need for herbicides and promotes sustainable weed management.
- iv. Disease and Pest Suppression: Changing crops can interrupt the life cycles of pests and pathogens, reducing disease incidence and improving overall crop health.

3.2.2 Case Studies of Successful Crop Rotation

i. The United States Corn-Soybean Rotation: In the Midwest United States, the corn-soybean rotation is a well-documented practice that has significantly improved yields and soil health. This rotation

- enhances nitrogen fixation, reduces soil erosion, and increases organic matter in the soil. Research indicates that this rotation can lead to increased corn yields by up to 10% compared to continuous corn planting.
- ii. Australia Wheat-Legume Rotation: In Australia, farmers practicing a wheat-legume rotation have experienced improved soil fertility and reduced disease incidence. Legumes, such as chickpeas and lentils, fix atmospheric nitrogen, enhancing soil nutrient content for subsequent wheat crops. This rotation has proven successful in increasing overall farm productivity and profitability.
- iii. Europe Crop Rotations in Organic Farming: Organic farmers in Europe have successfully implemented diverse crop rotations that include grains, pulses, and cover crops. These rotations not only improve soil health and increase biodiversity but also contribute to pest management and sustainable weed control. Studies have shown that organic farms employing crop rotations can achieve similar or higher yields compared to conventional farms while maintaining environmental sustainability.
- iv. Maize and Legume Rotation in Northern Nigeria: In northern Nigeria, farmers have adopted a maize-legume rotation system, particularly involving cowpeas and soybeans. This practice improves soil nitrogen levels through biological nitrogen fixation. A study demonstrated that maize planted after legumes yielded significantly higher than maize planted continuously. The study found that rotating maize with legumes increased yields by approximately 20-30%, improved soil health, and reduced pest and disease incidence.
- V. Cassava and Yam Rotation in Southern Nigeria: In the Niger Delta region of southern Nigeria, farmers have implemented a rotation system involving cassava and yam. This rotation helps manage soil fertility and control pests affecting these tuber crops. A study showed that rotating cassava with yam led to improved soil structure and nutrient availability. Farmers practicing this rotation experienced yam yields that were 15-25% higher compared to those who cultivated yam continuously. The rotation also helped reduce soil-borne diseases.
- Vi. Groundnut and Sorghum Rotation in North-East Nigeria: In Nigeria's North-East region, farmers have adopted a crop rotation system involving groundnut (peanut) and sorghum, which enhances soil nutrients and reduces pest infestations. A field study shows that groundnut rotation with sorghum improved soil fertility and increased groundnut yields by 30-40%. The study emphasized that the rotation helped suppress weeds and reduced the need for chemical herbicides, promoting a more sustainable farming approach.
- vii. Rice and Maize Rotation in the Middle-Belt: In Nigeria's Middle-Belt region, rice is rotated with maize to improve soil fertility and crop resilience to climate variability. One of the research indicated that rotating rice with maize enhances soil organic matter and nutrient content, leading to increased maize yields. The research reported that farmers practicing this rotation achieved yields that were 20% higher than those who cultivated rice continuously.
- viii. Cassava and Groundnut Rotation in the South-East: In the South-East region, farmers frequently rotate cassava with groundnut (peanut). This practice helps improve soil structure and nutrient availability. The intercropping of cassava and groundnut allows for better utilization of space and resources. Groundnut improves soil fertility through nitrogen fixation, while cassava provides ground cover, reducing soil erosion and weed competition.

These examples of crop rotation practices demonstrate the effectiveness of sustainable agricultural technique in enhancing soil health, increasing crop yields, and managing pests and diseases. By adopting diverse cropping systems, farmers can improve their resilience to climate variability and contribute to sustainable food production.

3.3 Integrated Pest Management (IPM)

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is a holistic approach to managing pests that combines a variety of biological, cultural, mechanical, and chemical practices to minimize pest populations while reducing the reliance on chemical pesticides.

3.3.1 Overview of IPM

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) combines biological, cultural, and mechanical practices with the judicious use of chemical controls to manage pests and diseases sustainably. This approach minimizes chemical inputs and their environmental impacts while maintaining crop health and productivity. The primary goal of IPM is to achieve effective pest control with minimal environmental impact, promoting sustainable agricultural practices. IPM strategies are based on understanding the pest life cycle, monitoring pest populations, and applying management techniques at appropriate times to reduce pest damage to acceptable levels.

3.3.2 Benefits of IPM for Reducing Chemical Use

The benefits of IPM include:

- Reduced Chemical Use: IPM emphasizes the use of non-chemical control methods, significantly decreasing the reliance on chemical pesticides. This leads to lower environmental contamination and reduced risks to human health.
- ii. Environmental Protection: By minimizing pesticide use, IPM helps protect beneficial organisms, such as pollinators and natural pest predators, as well as reducing the impact on soil and water quality.
- iii. Economic Savings: Implementing IPM can lead to cost savings for farmers by reducing input costs associated with pesticide purchases and improving crop yields through more effective pest management.
- iv. Enhanced Biodiversity: IPM promotes biodiversity within agricultural systems, which contributes to ecosystem resilience and health. Diverse cropping systems can support a wider range of beneficial organisms that help control pests naturally.
- V. Sustainable Pest Management: IPM fosters long-term pest management solutions that can adapt to changing pest pressures and environmental conditions, making it a sustainable approach to agriculture.

3.3.3 Success Stories of IPM Implementation

- i. India Cotton Pest Management: In India, the introduction of IPM practices in cotton production has significantly reduced the use of chemical pesticides. By integrating biological controls and promoting the use of resistant cotton varieties, farmers have managed to control pest populations while decreasing pesticide applications by up to 50%, leading to both economic and environmental benefits.
- ii. United States IPM in Apple Orchards: In apple orchards across the United States, IPM programs have been successfully implemented to manage pests such as codling moths. By using pheromone traps for monitoring, introducing natural predators, and applying targeted pesticide applications only when necessary, apple growers have reduced pesticide use by 80% while maintaining high-quality fruit production.
- iii. South Africa IPM in Vegetable Production: In South Africa, IPM strategies have been employed in vegetable production to manage pests like aphids and whiteflies. By promoting integrated practices such as crop rotation, intercropping, and the use of bio pesticides, farmers have achieved significant reductions in chemical pesticide use and increased vegetable yields.
- iv. Latin America IPM for Coffee Production: In several Latin American countries, IPM has been implemented in coffee production to control pests such as coffee borer beetles. Farmers have adopted practices like shade management and the use of resistant coffee varieties, leading to reduced chemical inputs and improved coffee quality
- V. Cotton IPM Program in Northern Nigeria: The implementation of IPM in cotton production in northern Nigeria has been a significant success story. Cotton farmers were trained in IPM techniques, including the use of resistant varieties, biological control agents, and cultural practices. A study found that farmers who adopted IPM practices reduced their pesticide use by up to 50% while maintaining or increasing their cotton yields. The adoption of biocontrol agents, such as ladybird beetles, helped manage pest populations effectively.
- Vi. Vegetable IPM Initiatives in Lagos State Nigeria: In Lagos State, Nigeria, an IPM initiative focused on vegetable production has led to improved pest management practices among smallholder farmers. The program included training on the identification of pests and the use of non-chemical methods. According to a report, farmers who implemented IPM strategies experienced a 40% reduction in pesticide use and reported higher yields of leafy vegetables such as spinach and lettuce. The training also improved farmers' knowledge and confidence in managing pests sustainably.
- vii. Rice IPM in the Niger Delta: The implementation of IPM practices in rice production in the Niger Delta has been another success story. Farmers were trained to manage pests such as the rice weevil and stem borer through IPM strategies. A study found that farmers adopting IPM practices reduced their pesticide use by 30% while achieving a 15% increase in rice yields. The program emphasized the use of resistant rice varieties and proper water management to reduce pest incidence.
- 4. Water Management Practices in Sustainable Agriculture

Efficient water management is crucial for sustainable agriculture, especially in the face of increasing water scarcity and climate change. Implementing effective water management practices enhances agricultural productivity, conserves water resources, and promotes environmental sustainability.

4.1 Strategies for Efficient Water Usage

Below are key strategies for efficient water usage in agriculture

4.1.1 Drip Irrigation

Description: Drip irrigation is a method that delivers water directly to the root zone of plants through a network of tubing and emitters. This system minimizes water loss due to evaporation and runoff.

Benefits: Drip irrigation can reduce water use by 30-70% compared to traditional irrigation methods. It promotes better crop growth and higher yields by providing consistent moisture levels and reducing weed growth. In Northern Nigeria, particularly in states like Kano and Jigawa, farmers have adopted drip irrigation as an efficient water management strategy. This method is particularly beneficial in arid regions where water scarcity is a significant challenge.

Case Study: In Israel, widespread adoption of drip irrigation has transformed arid lands into productive agricultural areas, significantly enhancing water-use efficiency and crop yields. A study found that farmers using drip irrigation in Northern Nigeria reduced their water usage by approximately 50% compared to traditional irrigation methods. The implementation of drip irrigation not only improved crop yields, especially for high-value crops like tomatoes and peppers, but also enhanced water conservation efforts. Farmers reported increased profitability due to reduced water costs and higher crop quality.

4.1.2 Rainwater Harvesting

Description: Rainwater harvesting involves collecting and storing rainwater for agricultural use. This can be done through various methods, including rooftop collection, surface runoff capture, and the construction of ponds or reservoirs.

Benefits: Rainwater harvesting can supplement irrigation supplies, reduce dependence on groundwater, and improve water availability during dry periods. It also helps in reducing soil erosion and improving groundwater recharge. In the South-Western region of Nigeria, particularly in Ogun and Oyo states, farmers have implemented rainwater harvesting techniques to capture and store rainwater for agricultural use.

Case Study: In India, farmers have successfully implemented rainwater harvesting techniques to irrigate crops during dry seasons, leading to increased agricultural productivity and improved food security. A study revealed that the adoption of rainwater harvesting techniques led to increased crop yields during dry seasons. Farmers were able to maintain crop production in the off-season, which significantly improved food security and livelihoods. The study noted that farmers could achieve up to a 40% increase in yields for crops like maize and cassava due to improved water availability.

4.1.3 Soil Moisture Management

Description: Managing soil moisture involves employing practices that enhance the soil's ability to retain water. This includes the use of organic mulches, cover crops, and conservation tillage.

Benefits: Improved soil moisture management can increase water infiltration, reduce evaporation, and enhance crop resilience to drought conditions, gives better nutrient cycling and overall soil fertility as well as better yield.

Case Study: Soil Moisture Management in Nigeria's Agricultural Sector, in Benue State to be precise, Farmers who adopted mulching techniques reported improved soil moisture levels, which enhanced water availability during dry periods. Soil moisture measurements indicated a 30% increase in moisture retention in mulched plots compared to non-mulched plots. The integration of cover crops and mulching resulted in increased yields for both maize and cassava. Farmers reported a yield increase of 25-40% in crops grown in mulched plots compared to those grown without moisture management practices. Soil analysis indicated higher levels of organic matter and improved soil structure in plots where mulching and cover cropping were practiced. This enhancement contributed to better nutrient cycling and overall soil fertility. Farmers experienced greater food security and economic stability due to the increased yields. Many farmers reported being able to sell surplus produce in local markets, leading to improved incomes.

4.2 The Role of Watershed Management in Sustainable Agriculture

Watershed management is essential for sustainable agriculture as it focuses on the management of water resources in a defined area, considering the interactions between land use, water quality, and environmental health. Key aspects include:

i. Water Quality Protection: Effective watershed management helps prevent soil erosion, nutrient runoff, and contamination of water bodies. Practices such as vegetative buffer strips, reforestation, and sustainable land use planning contribute to maintaining water quality.

- ii. Flood and Drought Mitigation: By managing land use and vegetation cover within watersheds, it is possible to enhance water retention and reduce the risk of flooding. Proper watershed management can also improve groundwater recharge, making water available during dry periods.
- iii. Integrated Water Resource Management (IWRM): Watershed management supports IWRM, which considers the entire water cycle and promotes coordinated management of water, land, and related resources. This integrated approach ensures that the needs of agriculture, ecosystems, and communities are met sustainably.
- iV. Community Involvement: Effective watershed management often involves local communities in decision-making processes, fostering a sense of ownership and responsibility for water resources. Engaging communities can lead to more sustainable practices and improved water management outcomes.

5. Technological Innovations in Sustainable Agriculture

The integration of technology and innovation in agriculture is transforming the way food is produced, making it more sustainable, efficient, and resilient to climate change. Technological advancements enhance sustainable agricultural practices by optimizing resource use, improving productivity, and reducing environmental impacts. Below are key technologies and innovations that play a crucial role in supporting sustainable agriculture.

5.1 Precision Agriculture

Description: Precision agriculture involves the use of advanced technologies such as GPS, sensors, and data analytics to monitor and manage field variability in crops. This approach allows farmers to apply inputs (water, fertilizers, pesticides) more accurately and efficiently based on specific crop needs.

Benefits: Precision agriculture can lead to a significant reduction in resource use, minimizing waste and environmental impact. Studies show that it can reduce fertilizer use by 10-30% while increasing crop yields by 5-15%.

5.2 Use of Drones and Remote Sensing

Description: Drones, or unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), are increasingly used in agriculture for monitoring crops, assessing plant health, and managing resources. Equipped with cameras and sensors, drones can capture high-resolution images and gather data on crop conditions.

Benefits: Drones enable farmers to conduct aerial surveys, monitor crop growth, and identify pest infestations or diseases early, allowing for timely interventions. This technology enhances decision-making and resource management, leading to more sustainable practices.

5.3 Mobile Applications and Digital Tools

Description: Mobile apps provide farmers with access to information about weather forecasts, pest identification, market prices, and best farming practices. These tools enhance farmers' ability to make timely decisions and improve productivity.

Benefits: Mobile technology helps smallholder farmers access vital information and resources, thus increasing their resilience to climate variability and market fluctuations.

5.4 Soil Sensors

Description: Soil sensors measure various parameters, including moisture levels, temperature, and nutrient content. They provide real-time data that helps farmers make informed decisions regarding irrigation and fertilization.

Benefits: By using soil sensors, farmers can optimize irrigation schedules and fertilizer applications based on actual soil conditions, reducing water use and chemical inputs while improving crop health and yields.

5.5 Vertical Farming and Hydroponics

Description: Vertical farming and hydroponics are innovative agricultural methods that allow for food production in controlled environments, using significantly less land and water. These practices can be implemented in urban areas, reducing the carbon footprint associated with food transportation.

Benefits: These technologies enable year-round crop production, minimize resource use, and reduce the impact on natural ecosystems, contributing to sustainable urban agriculture.

5.6 Innovations Supporting Climate Resilience and Sustainable Productivity

5.6.1 Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA)

Description: CSA encompasses a range of practices and technologies designed to enhance resilience to climate change while improving agricultural productivity. It includes agro ecological practices, efficient water management, and improved crop varieties. Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) is also an approach to transforming and reorienting agricultural systems to effectively support development and ensure food security in the face of climate change. CSA aims to increase productivity and resilience, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and enhance the achievement of national food security and development goals. The concept encompasses practices and technologies that sustainably increase agricultural productivity while adapting to climate change and mitigating its effects. It has the following key components:

- i. Increasing Agricultural Productivity: CSA focuses on improving the efficiency and productivity of agricultural systems. This includes optimizing input use, enhancing crop varieties, and adopting practices that boost yields while ensuring sustainability.
- ii. Enhancing Resilience: CSA emphasizes building resilience in agricultural systems to withstand climate variability and extreme weather events. This involves adopting practices that improve soil health, diversify cropping systems, and enhance water management.
- iii. Mitigating Climate Change: CSA aims to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural practices. This includes implementing practices that sequester carbon in soils and reduce emissions from livestock and fertilizer use.
- IV. Promoting Sustainable Practices: CSA encourages the use of sustainable agricultural practices, including agro ecology, integrated pest management, and conservation agriculture, which enhance biodiversity, soil health, and ecosystem services.
- V. Integrating Social and Economic Dimensions: CSA recognizes the importance of social equity and economic viability in achieving sustainable agricultural systems. It involves engaging local communities, promoting gender equality, and ensuring that smallholder farmers have access to resources and markets.

Benefits: CSA enables farmers to adapt to changing climate conditions, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and enhance food security.

5.6.2 Biotechnology

Description: Advances in biotechnology, such as genetically modified organisms (GMOs) and Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR) gene editing, allow for the development of crop varieties that are more resilient to pests, diseases, and extreme weather conditions.

Benefits: These innovations can lead to higher yields and reduced reliance on chemical inputs, supporting sustainable agricultural practices.

5.6.3 Agroforestry Systems

Description: Integrating trees and shrubs into agricultural landscapes enhances biodiversity and improves ecosystem services. Agroforestry practices can be supported by technology for better management and monitoring.

Benefits: Agroforestry systems improve soil health, enhance water retention, and provide additional income sources for farmers, contributing to climate resilience.

5.6.4 Water Management Technologies

Description: Technologies such as smart irrigation systems and rainwater harvesting techniques enhance water efficiency in agriculture. These systems can be monitored and controlled using mobile apps and sensors.

Benefits: Improved water management practices reduce water waste, enhance crop resilience to drought, and support sustainable agricultural productivity.

- 6. Policy Frameworks and Support Systems
- 6.1 Importance of Government Policies

Government policies play a crucial role in promoting sustainable agriculture by creating an enabling environment for farmers to adopt sustainable practices, access resources, and enhance food security. The importance of government policies in this context can be highlighted through several key aspects:

- Financial Incentives: Governments can provide financial support through subsidies, grants, and low-interest loans to encourage farmers to adopt sustainable agricultural practices. This financial assistance can help offset the costs of transitioning to practices such as organic farming, agro ecology, and conservation agriculture.
- ii. Research and Development Support: Public investment in agricultural research and development is essential for fostering innovation in sustainable agriculture. Government-funded research can lead to the development of new technologies, crop varieties, and best practices that enhance productivity and resilience.
- iii. Education and Training Programs: Government policies that support education and training for farmers can enhance their knowledge of sustainable practices and technologies. Extension services and training programs can empower farmers to implement sustainable approaches effectively.
- iv. Regulatory Frameworks: Establishing clear regulatory frameworks that promote sustainable agricultural practices is vital. Policies can include regulations on pesticide use, soil conservation, and water management that encourage environmentally friendly practices.
- v. Market Access and Value Chain Development: Policies that facilitate market access for sustainably produced products are essential. This includes supporting certification programs, labelling schemes, and fair trade initiatives, which can enable farmers to receive premium prices for their produce, incentivizing sustainable practices.
- vi. Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation: Policies aimed at addressing climate change impacts are essential for promoting sustainable agriculture. Governments can support practices that enhance resilience to climate change, such as climate-smart agriculture (CSA), through targeted programs and funding.
- 6.2 Overview of International Agreements Supporting Sustainable Agriculture

International Agreements

- i. Paris Agreement (2015): This landmark agreement aims to combat climate change by limiting global warming to well below 2 degrees Celsius. It encourages countries to develop climate action plans that include sustainable agricultural practices as a means to enhance resilience and reduce emissions. Nigeria, as a signatory, is committed to implementing measures to mitigate climate change and adapt to its effects. The Paris Agreement provides a framework for integrating CSA into the country's Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), emphasizing sustainable land use and agricultural practices.
- ii. 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) emphasize the importance of sustainable agriculture in achieving food security, eradicating poverty, and promoting sustainable economic growth. Goal 2 specifically focuses on ending hunger, achieving food security, and promoting sustainable agriculture. The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), particularly SDG 2 (Zero Hunger), highlight the importance of sustainable agriculture in achieving food security and promoting sustainable livelihoods. Nigeria's policies and strategies are aligned with these goals.
- iii. Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD): This international treaty aims to conserve biodiversity, promote sustainable use of its components, and ensure fair sharing of benefits arising from genetic resources. Sustainable agriculture practices that enhance biodiversity conservation are supported under the CBD framework. Nigeria's commitment to conserving biodiversity supports sustainable agriculture practices. This includes efforts to promote crop diversification, agroforestry, and other methods that enhance ecosystem health.

6.3 Local Policies Supporting Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) in Nigeria

Local Policies

- i. National Agricultural Policy (NAP) Frameworks: Many countries have developed national policies that promote sustainable agriculture. For example, the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) has programs that support conservation practices, sustainable farming methods, and climate resilience initiatives. The NAP provides a comprehensive framework for the agricultural sector in Nigeria. Recent versions of the policy (e.g., the National Agricultural Technology and Innovation Policy) increasingly incorporate CSA principles, including promoting climate-resilient farming practices, sustainable water management, and conservation agriculture. The policy framework provides a broad strategic guide for the agricultural sector, including support for climate-smart agricultural practices.
- ii. State and Regional Initiatives: Various states and regions implement their own policies to promote sustainable agriculture. For instance, California's Sustainable Agriculture Program provides resources and incentives for farmers to adopt sustainable practices, including water conservation and organic farming. Some Nigerian states have developed their own agricultural policies and programs that support CSA. For instance, some states offer subsidies for climate-resilient crops, promote sustainable land management practices, and support training programs for farmers (e.g., state-specific agricultural extension services).

- iii. Local Government Support: Local governments can implement policies that encourage urban agriculture, community gardens, and local food systems, promoting sustainable practices at the community level. These initiatives often include zoning regulations and funding for community-based projects.
- iV. National Climate Change Policy (NCCP): This policy and its related strategies aim to integrate climate change considerations into national development plans, including the agricultural sector. The NCCP provides a basis for promoting CSA, encouraging climate-resilient crop production, and reducing greenhouse gas emissions.
- V. Specific Programs and Projects: Various government agencies, international organizations, and NGOs have implemented specific projects and programs that support CSA in Nigeria. These initiatives often focus on promoting drought-resistant crop varieties, promoting agroforestry, and improving water management techniques (e.g., projects supported by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), World Bank, and other development partners).

7. Challenges and Opportunities in Sustainable Agriculture

Sustainable agriculture plays a pivotal role in addressing the interconnected challenges of food security, environmental degradation, and climate change. However, its successful implementation is fraught with challenges. Understanding these challenges, recognizing the opportunities that exist, and formulating strategies to overcome barriers is essential for advancing sustainable agricultural practices.

7.1 Key Challenges Facing Sustainable Agricultural Practices

Key Challenges Facing Sustainable Agricultural Practices includes:

- i. Limited Access to Resources: Many smallholder farmers face constraints in accessing financial resources, high-quality seeds, and modern agricultural technologies. This limitation can hinder their ability to adopt sustainable practices that often require initial investments. FAO highlights that financial barriers are a significant impediment to the adoption of sustainable agricultural practices, particularly for smallholder farmers in developing countries.
- ii. Knowledge Gaps and Education: A lack of awareness and technical knowledge about sustainable practices can prevent farmers from implementing effective strategies. Many farmers continue to rely on traditional methods that may not be sustainable. Research have shown that inadequate agricultural education and extension services have been identified as critical barriers to the adoption of sustainable practices among farmers.
- iii. Market Access and Economic Viability: Farmers often struggle to access markets for sustainably produced goods, and the economic viability of sustainable practices can be uncertain without guaranteed market access. Farmers often struggle to access markets for sustainably produced goods, and the economic viability of sustainable practices can be uncertain without guaranteed market access. The World Bank emphasizes the need for improved market access and value chain development to ensure that farmers can benefit economically from adopting sustainable practices.

- iv. Climate Change Impacts: The unpredictability of climate change, including increased frequency of droughts and floods, poses significant risks to agricultural productivity. These changes can undermine the effectiveness of sustainable practices. A report by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) outlines how climate change exacerbates existing vulnerabilities in agricultural systems, making it challenging for farmers to maintain productivity.
- v. Policy and Regulatory Barriers: Inconsistent or inadequate government policies can create obstacles for the adoption of sustainable agricultural practices. Lack of funding, insufficient infrastructure, and weak enforcement of regulations can hinder progress.

7.2 Opportunities for Advancing Sustainable Practices

- i. Growing Demand for Sustainable Products: There is an increasing consumer demand for sustainably produced food, which presents an opportunity for farmers to diversify and market their products more effectively. A report by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) indicates that consumer preferences are shifting toward organic and sustainably sourced products, providing economic incentives for farmers to adopt sustainable practices.
- ii. Technological Advancements: Innovations in agricultural technology, such as precision agriculture, drones, and mobile applications, offer new ways to enhance productivity and sustainability, it can also improve resource efficiency and crop yields, making sustainable practices more attainable for farmers. Farmers can leverage advancements in technology to implement sustainable practices more effectively. For instance, precision irrigation systems can significantly reduce water use, while drones can monitor crop health and optimize inputs.
- iii. Government and International Support: Many governments and international organizations are increasingly recognizing the importance of sustainable agriculture and are providing supportive policies to encourage its adoption. This includes financial incentives, subsidies, and research funding aimed at promoting sustainable farming practices. Farmers can benefit from government programs that support the transition to sustainable practices. By participating in these programs, farmers can gain access to technical assistance, financial resources, and training that facilitate the adoption of sustainable methods.
- iv. Research and Development Initiatives: Ongoing research into sustainable agricultural practices is essential for developing innovative solutions that address the specific challenges faced by farmers. Research institutions and universities are increasingly focusing on sustainable agriculture, climate resilience, and agro ecological practices. Collaborative research initiatives can lead to the development of new technologies, crop varieties, and best practices tailored to local conditions. Farmers who engage with research institutions can access the latest knowledge and innovations, enhancing their farming practices. The International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) highlights the importance of investing in research and development to advance sustainable agricultural practices and improve food security.

- v. Community and Cooperative Approaches: Farmers can benefit from forming cooperatives or community groups that focus on sustainable agricultural practices. These groups can facilitate knowledge sharing, resource pooling, and collective bargaining. Collaborative approaches empower farmers to implement sustainable practices more effectively. By working together, farmers can reduce costs, improve market access, and share best practices. Cooperative models in agriculture can enhance the adoption of sustainable practices by providing farmers with the necessary support and resources.
- vi. Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity: Sustainable agricultural practices can enhance ecosystem services, such as pollination, soil health, and water quality. By promoting biodiversity on farms, farmers can improve the resilience of their agricultural systems. Farmers can leverage ecosystem services to improve productivity and reduce dependency on chemical inputs. Practices such as agroforestry, cover cropping, and maintaining natural habitats can enhance biodiversity and contribute to sustainable farming.

7.3 Strategies for Overcoming Barriers

Overcoming the barriers to sustainable agriculture requires a multifaceted approach that involves collaboration among various stakeholders, including farmers, governments, NGOs, and the private sector. Below are detailed strategies designed to address the key challenges identified in sustainable agricultural practices:

- i. Enhancing Access to Financial Resources
 - a. Microfinancing and Credit Facilities: Developing microfinance institutions that provide low-interest loans and credit facilities specifically tailored for smallholder farmers can empower them to invest in sustainable practices. This financial support can help cover the initial costs associated with adopting new technologies and practices.
 - b. Government Subsidies and Grants: Governments can offer subsidies for sustainable agricultural inputs such as organic fertilizers, seeds, and water-efficient irrigation systems. Grant programs can also be established to support farmers transitioning to sustainable practices.
- ii. Improving Education and Training
 - a. Agricultural Extension Services: Strengthening agricultural extension services can provide farmers with essential information and training on sustainable practices. This includes workshops, field demonstrations, and training sessions that focus on the benefits and implementation of sustainable methods.
 - b. Farmer-to-Farmer Learning: Encouraging peer-to-peer learning among farmers can facilitate knowledge sharing and the adoption of best practices. Establishing farmer cooperatives can create platforms for sharing experiences and resources.
- iii. Facilitating Market Access
 - a. Value Chain Development: Strengthening agricultural value chains can enhance market access for sustainably produced goods. This includes improving infrastructure, transportation, and storage facilities to reduce post-harvest losses.

CLIMATE SMART AGRICULTURE, FOOD SECURITY AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

GLOBAL ISSUES & LOCAL PERSPECTIVES volume One

b. Certification and Labelling Programs: Implementing certification programs for sustainable products can help farmers access premium markets. Educating consumers about the benefits of sustainably produced goods can increase demand and incentivize farmers to adopt sustainable practices.

iv. Strengthening Policy and Regulatory Frameworks

- a. Supportive Legislation: Governments should develop and implement clear policies that promote sustainable agriculture. This includes creating regulatory frameworks that incentivize the adoption of sustainable practices and ensuring enforcement mechanisms are in place.
- b. Stakeholder Engagement in Policy Development: Engaging farmers and community members in the policy-making process can ensure that policies are relevant and effective. This participatory approach can lead to more successful implementation of sustainable agriculture initiatives.

v. Addressing Climate Change Impacts

- a. Research and Development: Investing in research to develop climate-resilient crop varieties and innovative farming practices is essential. Collaborations between agricultural research institutions and universities can lead to the development of technologies that help farmers adapt to changing climate conditions.
- b. Climate-Smart Agriculture Initiatives: Governments and NGOs can implement programs that promote climate-smart agricultural practices, focusing on practices that enhance resilience, reduce emissions, and improve productivity.

vi. Leveraging Technological Innovations

- a. Access to Technology: Ensuring that farmers have access to modern technologies, such as precision agriculture tools, irrigation systems, and mobile applications, can enhance efficiency and productivity. Governments and NGOs can facilitate access through training and subsidized technologies.
- b. Digital Platforms for Information Sharing: Developing digital platforms that provide farmers with access to real-time data, market information, and best practices can empower them to make informed decisions and adopt sustainable methods.

8. Conclusion

In the face of escalating climate change challenges, the implementation of sustainable agricultural practices has emerged as a critical strategy for ensuring food security, protecting natural resources, and promoting economic viability. This chapter has comprehensively explored various facets of sustainable agriculture, emphasizing its importance in adapting to and mitigating the impacts of climate change.

8.1 Summary of Key Points

i. Understanding Sustainable Agriculture: The chapter began by defining sustainable agriculture and outlining its principles, which include ecological integrity, soil health, resource efficiency, and

- social responsibility. These principles are crucial for fostering resilient agricultural systems capable of withstanding climate variability.
- ii. Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture: We discussed the significant challenges posed by climate change, including increased frequency of extreme weather events, soil degradation, and shifting agricultural zones. These factors threaten food production systems globally, particularly in vulnerable regions like Nigeria.
- iii. Key Sustainable Agriculture Practices: The chapter highlighted several sustainable practices, including:
 - a. Crop Diversification: This practice enhances resilience by reducing risk and improving soil health. Case studies from Nigeria demonstrated successful intercropping systems that lead to increased productivity.
 - b. Crop Rotation: We examined the benefits of crop rotation, which helps manage soil fertility and pests. Successful Nigerian case studies illustrated the positive impacts of rotating crops like cassava and yam.
 - c. Integrated Pest Management (IPM): IPM combines various control methods to manage pests sustainably. Success stories from Nigeria showcased significant reductions in pesticide use and improved yields through IPM.
- iv. Water Management Practices: Efficient water management is vital for sustainable agriculture. Strategies such as drip irrigation and rainwater harvesting have been effectively implemented in Nigeria, leading to enhanced water conservation and improved crop yields.
- v. Technological Innovations: We explored how technological advancements, including precision agriculture and the use of drones, can enhance sustainable practices. These tools provide farmers with valuable data, enabling better decision-making and resource management.
- vi. Policy Frameworks and Support Systems: The importance of supportive government policies was emphasized, including the need for financial incentives, research support, and regulatory frameworks. International agreements like the Paris Agreement and local policies in Nigeria provide a framework for promoting sustainable agricultural practices.
- vii. Challenges and Opportunities: The chapter identified key challenges such as limited access to resources, knowledge gaps, and climate change impacts that hinder the adoption of sustainable practices. However, it also highlighted numerous opportunities, including the growing demand for sustainable products, advancements in technology, and government support for sustainable agriculture.

8.2 Call to Action

The findings of this chapter underscore the urgent need for coordinated action among all stakeholders in the agricultural sector. Policymakers must prioritize the development and implementation of supportive policies that facilitate the adoption of sustainable practices. Farmers should embrace innovative techniques and actively participate in training programs to improve their knowledge and skills. Researchers must continue to investigate sustainable agricultural methods and develop technologies that enhance resilience and productivity.

Furthermore, consumers play a vital role by supporting sustainably produced food, which can drive market demand and incentivize farmers to adopt sustainable practices. By working collaboratively, we can create a resilient agricultural system that meets the needs of the present while safeguarding the environment for future generations.

In conclusion, sustainable agriculture practices are not merely beneficial but essential in the fight against climate change. By integrating these practices into our agricultural systems, we can build a more sustainable, resilient, and food-secure future. The time to act is now; embracing sustainable agriculture is imperative for the well-being of our planet and future generations.

References

- Abubakar, I., Khamis, A., & Othman, H. (2019). "Impact of Crop Rotation on the Yield Performance of Groundnut and Sorghum in North-East Nigeria. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology*, 21(3), 415-423.
- Aglawe, D. D., Bhute, N. K., Kale, N. D., Kadam, R.P., Ahire, R. D., Ekale, J. V., & Kapse, P. S. (2022). Impact of Integrated Pest Management Technology on Cotton growers in Maharashtra. *The Pharma Innovation Journal* 11(12), 5860-5869. https://www.thepharmajournal.com
- Aina, O.O., Dixon, A.G.O., & Akinrinde, E. A. (2007). Effect of Moisture Stress on Growth and yield of cassava in Nigeria. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences* 10(18), 3085-3090
- Altieri, M.A., & Nicholls, C.I. (2004). Biodiversity and pest management in agroecosystems. Food Product Press, New York
- Wezel, A., Casagrande, M., Celette, F., Vian, J. F., Ferrer, A., & Peigné, J. (2014). Agroecological practices for sustainable agriculture. A review, *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 34(1), 1-20.
- Baker, J. M., Ochsner, T. E., Venterea, R. T. & Griffis, T. J. (2006). Tillage and soil carbon sequestration-what we do really know? Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment 98(1), 2834-2839. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2006.05.014.
- Bolaji, K. A., Adisa, S. A., Adesogan, D. B., Adebayo, D. O., Oke, D. O., & Kabir, G. B. (2024). Leveraging Precision Agriculture for Sustainable Food Security in Nigeria: E-Proceedings of the 2nd Faculty of Agriculture International Conference, Nnamdi Azikiwe University, Awka, Nigeria Pp 286-291. https://journals.unizik.edu.ng/faic/article/view/3501

- Bowles, T. M., Mooshammer, M., Socolar, Y., Calderón, F., Cavigelli, M. A., & Culman, S. W. (2020). Long-term evidence shows that crop- rotation diversification increases agricultural resilience to adverse growing conditions in North America. One Earth, 3, 284–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2020.02.007
- Brookes, G., & Barfoot, P. (2018). "Global Economic Impact of GM Crops: 1996–2016. GM Crops & Food, 9(2), 78-86. doi:10.1080/21645698.2018.1477259.
- California Department of Water Resources. (2018). "California Water Plan Update 2018 Vol. 2, Regional Reports." Retrieved from [DWR](https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/Web-Pages/California-Water-Plan/Update-2018/Files/Vol2-Regional-Reports/Final-Draft/2018_CWPU_Vol2_RegionalReports.pdf).
- Carthy, A., Jemaneh, I., & Youngs, K. (2022). Government Policies and Sustainable Food Systems:

 Navigating Challenges, Seizing Opportunities, and Advancing Environmental and Social
 Resilience. *Journal for Law and Economics Studies*, 16(2), 88-102.
- Chakraborty, S., & Newton, A. C. (2011). "Climate change impacts on the pathogens and pests of food crops." Global Change Biology, 17(1), 1-25. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02252. x.
- Dhakal, R. S., Syme, G., Andre, E., & Sabato, C. (2015). Sustainable Water Management for Uban Agriculture, Gardens and Public Open Space Irrigation: A case Study in Perth. A Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 6(7), 676-685. doi:10.4236/as.2015.67065.
- Eze, C. E., Nwankwo, F. O., & Okeke, O. C. (2020). "Effects of Crop Rotation on Soil Fertility and Yield of Rice and Maize in the Middle-Belt Region of Nigeria." *Journal of Agricultural Research*, 10(4), 99-108.
- Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (2022). National Agricultural Policy.
- Federal Ministry of Environment (2023). National Climate Change Policy.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). (2021). "The State of Food and Agriculture 2021 Making food systems more resilient to climate change." Retrieved from [FAO](http://www.fao.org/publications/sofa/2021/en/).
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). (2020). "The State of Food and Agriculture 2020: Overcoming Water Challenges in Agriculture." Retrieved from [FAO](http://www.fao.org/publications/sofa/2020/en/).
- FAOSTAT, (2020). Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Statistics Division. Retrieved May 17, 2022. https://www.fao.org

- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). (2018). "Agro ecology: A Key Tool for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals." Retrieved from [FAO](http://www.fao.org/3/18499EN/i8499en.pdf).
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). (2015). "Status of the World's Soil Resources." Retrieved from [FAO](http://www.fao.org/3/i5199e/i5199e.pdf).
- Gleissman, S. R. (2015). Agro ecology: The Ecology of Sustainable Food Systems. CRC Press.
- GWP (Global Water Partnership). (2014). "Integrated Water Resource Management." Retrieved from [GWP](https://www.gwp.org/en/GWP-CEE/About/GWP-CEE-Strategy/).
- Hanjra, M. A., & Qureshi, M. E. (2010). "Global water crisis and future food security in an era of climate change." Food Policy, 35(5), 365-377. doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.06.002.
- Hassan, M.K., Desiere, S., D'Haese, M., Kumar, L. (2018). Impact of climate-smart agriculture adoption on the food security of coastal farmers in Bangladesh. Food Sec.10, 1073.
- Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR). (2021). "Impact of Crop Diversification on Food Security and Farmer Incomes in India." Retrieved from [ICAR](https://www.icar.org.in).
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). (2019). "Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems." Retrieved from [IPCC](https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/).
- IFPRI (International Food Policy Research Institute). (2021). "Investing in Sustainable Agricultural Research and Development for Food Security." Retrieved from [IFPRI](https://www.ifpri.org/publication/investing-sustainable-agricultural-research-and-development-food-security).
- Johan, S., Channing, A., & Rob, V. (2022). (IFPRI Global Food Policy Report): Accelerating food systems transformation to combat climate change.
- Juan, F., Velasco-Munoz, Jose, A., Aznar-Sanchez, Ana, B. & Maria, D. F. (2019). Rainwater Harvesting for Agricultural Irrigation: An Analysis of Global Research. *Water*, 11(7), 1320; https://doi.org/10.3390/w11071320
- Kamara, A. Y., Oyinbo, O., Ajeigbe, H. A., Idowu, E. O., & Ojiewo, C. (2023). Sustainable intensification technologies and farm performance: evidence from smallholder sorghum farmers in Nigeria, *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 21(1), 1-17

- Kogan, M. (1998). "Integrated Pest Management: Historical Perspectives and Contemporary Developments." Annual Review of Entomology, 43(1), 243-270. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ento.43.1.243.
- Lal, R. (2016). "Soil Carbon Sequestration and Greenhouse Gas Emissions." In Climate Change and Soil Interactions (pp. 125-146). CRC Press.
- Lal, R. (2015). "Restoration of Degraded Lands." Soil and Water Conservation Advances in the 21st Century, 1-20. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-801635-2.00001-4.
- Musa, M. B., Jibrin, U. Y., Isyaku, A. (2024). An Analysis of Sustainable Agricultural Productivity and Food Security in Nigeria. *Journal of Political Discourse*, 2(1), 45-60.
- Ogunsola, O.A., Adeniyi, O.D., & Adedokun, V.A. (2020). Soil management and conservation: an approach to mitigate and ameliorate soil contamination. In: Larramendy ML, Soloneski S, eds. Soil Contamination Threats and Sustainable Solutions. London: IntechOpen.
- Okunlola, A. I., Ofuya, T.I. & Aladesanwa, R.D. (2008). Efficacy of Plant Extracts on Major Insect Pests of Selected Leaf Vegetables in South-western Nigeria. *Med. Online Agric. Journal*, 3,181-184.
- Oloye, A. A., Ojo, A. A., & Amusa, N. A. (2017). "Impact of Legume Intercropping on Soil Fertility and Maize Yield in Northern Nigeria." *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 9(6), 67-76. doi:10.5539/jas. v9n6p67.
- Onwuka, B. M., Nwagbara, M. O., & Oguike, P. C. (2024). Evaluation of soil moisture in relation to climate variability across Umudike, South eastern Nigeria. *International Journal of Hydrology*, 8(3), 2576-4454.
- Oruma, S. O., Misra, S., & Fernandez-Sanz, L. (2021). Agriculture 4.0: an implementation framework for food security attainment in Nigeria's post-Covid-19 era. leee Access, 9, 83592-83627.
- Pretty, J., Bharucha, Z. P., & Mendez, V. E. (2018). "Sustainable intensification in agricultural systems." Nature Sustainability, 1(9), 574-580. doi:10.1038/s41893-018-0054-6.
- Rajiv, D. (2022). Precision Agriculture Technologies for Sustainable Development. *International Journal of Innovative Research in Science, Engineering and Technology (IJIRSET)* 11(5), 4549-4555. DOI:10.15680/IJIRSET.2022.1105036
- Reganold, J. P., & Wachter, J. M. (2016). "Organic farming in the twenty-first century." Nature Plants, 2(2), 15221. doi:10.1038/nplants.2015.221.

- Rojas-Downing, M. M., Nejadhashemi, A. P., Harrigan, T. & Woznicki, S.A. (2017). "Climate change and livestock: Impacts, adaptation, and mitigation." *Climate Risk Management*, 16, 145-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.02.001.
- Santanu, K. B., Shivaramu, H. S., Kumar, P. V., Lingaraj, H., Sandeep, V. M., Subba Rao, A. V. M., Singh, V. K., Manjunatha, M. H., Malleswari, S. N., Tupe, A., Sudhakar, G., Dakhore, K. K., & Subbulakshmi, S. (2021) Impact of Soil Moisture on Crop Yields in Major Rain fed Growing Regions of Peninsular India
- Shamsuddeen, L., & Bashir, A. A. (2025). Performance of Groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.)

 Varieties as Influenced by Phosphorus and Mulching in the Nigeria Savanna, FUDMA

 Journal of Sciences (FJS), 1(9), 128-136. DOI: https://doi.org/10.33003/fjs-2025-0901-3131
- Simão, L. M., Peterson, D., Roozeboom, K. L., Rice, C. W., Du, J., Lin, X., & Lollato, R. P. (2022). Crop rotation and tillage impact yield performance of soybean, sorghum, and wheat, *Agronomy Journal*. 2023; 115:658–673.
- Teasdale, J.R., Coffman, C.B. & Mangum, R.W. (2007). "Potential long-term benefits of no-tillage and organic cropping systems for grain production and soil improvement. *Agronomy Journal*, 99(5), 1297-1305. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2006.0362
- Thomson, A.M., Izaurralde, R.C., Rosenberg, N.J. & Xiaoxia H. (2003). Climate change impacts on agriculture and soil carbon sequestration potential in the Huang-Hai Plain of China. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ., 114 (4), 195-209, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2005. 11.001
- Undie, U. L., Uwah, D. F., & Attoe, E. E. (2012). Effects of Intercropping and Crop Arrangement on Yield and Productivity of Late Season Maize/Soy bean Mixtures in the Humid Environment of South Southern Nigeria. Journal of Agricultural Science, 4(4), 37-50.
- USDA. (2022). Foreign Agricultural Services, Peanut area, yield and production. U.S department of Agriculture www.fas.usda.gov.psdaonline.
- USDA (U.S. Department of Agriculture). (2020). "USDA Climate Hubs." Retrieved from [USDA](https://www.usda.gov/topics/farming/climate-hubs).
- UN (United Nations). (2015). "Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development." Retrieved from [UN](https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda).
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). (2015). Paris AgreementRetrievedfrom(UNFCCC)(https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf).

- UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development). (2013). "Trade and Environment Review 2013: Wake Up Before It Is Too Late." Retrieved from [UNCTAD](https://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/ditcted2012d3_en.pdf).
- Witcombe, A. M. & Tiemann, L. K. (2022). Potential Contribution of Groundnut Residues to Soil N and the Influence of Farmer Management in Western Uganda. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 5:691786 https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.691786.
- World Bank. (2020). "The World Bank Annual Report 2020." Retrieved from [World Bank](https://www.worldbank.org/en/about/annual-report).
- World Bank. (2021). "Climate Change and Poverty: A Framework for Action. Retrieved from[WorldBank](https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/climatechange/publication/climate-change-and-poverty-a-framework-for-action).